

Sovereign King Church Bylaws

Adopted: January 30, 2018

11713 US-31
Sellersburg, IN 47172
(304)544-3841

Introduction to Bylaws

The following Bylaws are designed to help our church operate in a biblically faithful manner. Like most church bylaws, they cover basic issues related to membership, congregational meetings, the responsibilities of church officers, and the use of church property. They also cover issues that are often overlooked in standard bylaws, such as biblical counseling, confidentiality, and conflict resolution.

At first glance, you may wonder why we have gone into such detail and addressed issues that churches have traditionally ignored. The primary answer to this question is that we believe there has been a significant change in the moral and legal climate of this country. Twenty years ago, most Americans, whether they were Christian or not, held to a common framework of basic moral values. Honesty, fairness, respect for others, self-discipline, and accountability were generally viewed as commendable qualities. In recent years, however, respect for these qualities has been undermined by a growing emphasis on individualism, a diminished respect for authority, the acceptance of relative morality, and the loss of common norms and values.

Because of this change, it is no longer possible to assume that everyone holds to the same standard of common sense, fairness, and justice, even within the same church. Therefore, what seems to be appropriate to one member of a church (for example, giving three days notice of a special congregational meeting, or allowing the deacons to spend \$3,000 without congregational approval) might seem to be outrageous to another member.

This loss of common values even within the church can cause a great deal of confusion and conflict. It can also expose a church to devastating lawsuits. A generation ago, very few people would have even dreamed of suing a church. But the legal climate has changed dramatically in recent years, and today lawsuits against churches are commonplace. Part of the reason for this is that people have differing expectations as to how a church should conduct its affairs and treat its members. When these expectations are not met, a lawsuit often follows, which can ruin a church both spiritually and financially.

As Proverbs 22:3 warns, “A prudent man sees danger and takes refuge, but the simple keep going and suffer for it.” Realizing that the absence of common norms and values can pose a threat to the unity and well-being of our church, we developed these Bylaws as a means of establishing commonly accepted standards for how we would treat one another and govern ourselves as a body. In particular, these Bylaws are designed to accomplish these goals:

They help to prevent surprises and disappointed expectations by providing potential members with a thorough explanation of how the church intends to govern itself.

They reduce the likelihood of confusion and conflict within the church by establishing clear operational guidelines.

They prevent the misuse of authority by church leaders by limiting their powers and establishing procedures that protect members from being disciplined or losing rights without due process.

They give our elders protection from being compelled by a civil court to testify regarding information they receive through pastoral counseling, while at the same time giving them guidelines for reporting actual or suspected harm to others.

They reduce the church’s exposure to legal liability by satisfying recently developed legal requirements, even in areas where we deny that the state has jurisdiction, and by requiring that potential lawsuits will be resolved through biblical mediation or arbitration rather than through litigation.

Most people would agree that these are worthwhile goals, but some might still be troubled by the amount of detail found in these Bylaws. They might say, “Why can’t we live with just a few general rules?” The answer to that question is quite simple: Because we live in a fallen world, we tend to interpret general rules differently and twist them to serve our own selfish ends. Therefore, it is often necessary to develop detailed rules to eliminate the possibility of misunderstandings and mistreatment.

This human need for detailed guidance is clearly reflected in Scripture. Instead of giving us only the two great commandments (love God and love your neighbor), God gave us the Ten Commandments. And he didn’t stop there. Realizing our weakness and our sinful tendency to ignore or distort his commandments, God instructed Moses to set forth dozens of detailed laws on how we should behave (see Exodus, Leviticus, and Deuteronomy). All of these laws are summed up in the two great commandments, but even Jesus knew that until the world is renewed, we will still need the helpful guidance of the more detailed moral principles set forth throughout Scripture (see Matthew 5:17-7:6).

One of the places that we sometimes need this kind of detailed guidance is in the church. Scripture does not tell us exactly how to give notice or establish quorums for congregational meetings, what information should remain confidential and what may be shared with others, how long church officers should serve without re-election, or how to dispose of property if a church dissolves. These Bylaws are designed to answer these types of questions, and will hopefully spare us from unnecessary confusion and conflict, help us to act in consistent and respectful ways, and allow us to devote ourselves to the more important matters of God’s kingdom.

As you read these Bylaws, we encourage you to look up and study the Bible passages that are cited next to particular provisions. If such study does not answer all of your questions and concerns, please do not hesitate to approach our pastor or one of our elders, who will be happy to talk with you about these Bylaws.

PREFACE TO SOVEREIGN KING CHURCH'S BYLAWS

THE KING AND HEAD OF THE CHURCH

Jesus Christ, upon whose shoulders the government rests, whose name is called Wonderful, Counselor, the Mighty God, the Everlasting Father, the Prince of Peace; of the increase of whose government and peace there shall be no end; who sits upon the throne of David, and upon His kingdom to order it and to establish it with judgement and justice from henceforth, even forever (Isaiah 9:6-7); having all power given unto Him in heaven and in earth by the Father, who raised Him from the dead and set Him at His own right hand, far above all principality and power, and might, and dominion, and every name that is named, not only in this world, but also in that which is to come, and has put all things under His feet, and gave Him to be the Head over all things to the Church, which is His body, the fullness of Him that filleth all in all (Ephesians 1:20-23); He, being ascended up far above all heavens, that He might fill all things, received gifts for His Church, and gave all offices necessary for the edification of His Church and the perfecting of His saints (Ephesians 4:10-13).

Jesus, the Mediator, the sole Priest, Prophet, King, Savior, and Head of the Church, contains in Himself, by way of eminency, all the offices in His Church, and has many of their names attributed to Him in the Scriptures. He is Apostle, Teacher, Pastor, Minister, Bishop and the only Lawgiver in Zion.

It belongs to His Majesty from His throne of glory to rule and teach the Church through His Word and Spirit by the ministry of men; thus immediately exercising His own authority and enforcing His own laws, unto the edification and establishment of His Kingdom.

Christ, as King, has given to His Church officers, oracles and ordinances; and especially has He ordained therein His system of doctrine, government, discipline and worship, all of which are either expressly set down in Scripture, or by good and necessary inference may be deducted therefrom; and to which things He commands that nothing be added, and that from them naught be taken away.

Since the ascension of Jesus Christ to heaven, He is present with the Church by His Word and Spirit, and the benefits of all His offices are effectually applied by the Holy Ghost.

PRELIMINARY PRINCIPLES

Sovereign King Church in setting forth the form of government founded upon and agreeable to the Word of God, reiterates the following great principles which have governed the formation of the plan:

1. God alone is Lord of the conscience and has left it free from any doctrines or commandments of men (a) which are in any respect contrary to the Word of God, or (b) which, in regard to matters of faith and worship, are not governed by the Word of God. Therefore, the rights of private judgement in all matters that respect religion are universal and inalienable.
2. In perfect consistency with the above principle, every Christian Church, or union or association of particular churches, is entitled to declare the terms of admission into its communion and the qualifications of its ministers and members, as well as the whole system of its internal government which Christ has appointed. In the exercise of this right it may, notwithstanding, err in making the terms of communion either too lax or too narrow; yet even in this case, it does not infringe upon the liberty or the rights of others, but only makes an improper use of its own.
3. Our blessed Savior, for the edification of the visible Church, which is His body, has appointed officers not only to preach the Gospel and administer the Sacraments, but also to exercise discipline for the preservation both of truth and duty. It is incumbent upon these officers and upon the whole Church in whose name they act, to censure or cast out the erroneous and scandalous, observing in all cases the rules contained in the Word of God.
4. Godliness is founded on truth. A test of truth is its power to promote holiness according to our Savior's rule, "By their fruits ye shall know them" (Matthew 7:20). No opinion can be more pernicious or more absurd than that which brings truth and falsehood upon the same level. On the contrary, there is an inseparable connection between faith and practice, truth and duty. Otherwise it would be of no consequence either to discover truth or to embrace it.
5. While, under the conviction of the above principle, it is necessary to make effective provision that all who are admitted as teachers be sound in the faith, there are truths and forms with respect to which men of good character and principles may differ. In all these it is the duty both of private Christians and societies to exercise mutual forbearance towards each other.
6. Though the character, qualifications and authority of church officers are laid down in the Holy Scriptures, as well as the proper method of officer investiture, the power to elect persons to the exercise of authority in any particular society resides in that society.
7. All church power, whether exercised by the body in general, or by representation, is only ministerial and declarative since the Holy Scriptures are the only rule of faith and practice. No church judicatory may make laws to bind the conscience. All church courts may err through human frailty, yet it rests upon them to uphold the laws of Scripture though this obligation be lodged with fallible men.
8. If the preceding scriptural principles be steadfastly adhered to, the vigor and strictness of disciplines will contribute to the glory and well-being of the Church. Since ecclesiastical discipline derives its force only from the power and authority of Christ, the great Head of the Church Universal, it must be purely moral and spiritual in its nature.

SOVEREIGN KING CHURCH BYLAWS

Established January 30, 2018

1. Name.....	1	12. Church Records.....	8
2. Constitution.....	1	13. Biblical Counseling.....	9
3. Organization and Incorporation.....	1	14. Confidentiality.....	9
4. Purpose and Limitations.....	1	15. Conflict Resolution.....	10
5. Location of Office.....	2	16. Church Discipline.....	11
6. Membership.....	2	17. Ownership and Distribution of Property....	11
7. Elders and Deacons.....	3	18. Indemnification of Officers.....	12
8. Pastor.....	4	19. Committees.....	12
9. Board of Elders (Board of Directors).....	5	20. Rules of Order.....	12
10. Board of Deacons.....	7	21. Amendment of Bylaws.....	12
11. Congregational Meetings.....	8	22. Guidelines for Church Discipline	14
		23. Declarations of Doctrine/Policies	18

THESE BYLAWS ARE SUBJECT TO ARBITRATION PURSUANT TO THE Indiana Code Section 34-4-2-1 et Seq.

1. Name

The name by which this organization shall be known in law shall be “Sovereign King Church” referred to herein as “the church.”

2. Constitution

The Constitution of Sovereign King Church, which is subject to and subordinate to the Scriptures of the Old and New Testaments, the inerrant Word of God, consists of its doctrinal standards set forth in *the Westminster Confession of Faith*, together with *the Larger and Shorter Catechisms* along with the *Apostles’ Creed* and *Nicene Creed*, all as adopted by the Board of Elders. Whenever possible, these Bylaws shall be interpreted so as to be consistent with the Constitution. Freedom of conscience in the area of baptism (adult-believer or paedobaptism) is guaranteed to the members, officers and pastors of the church.

3. Organization and Incorporation

The organization shall be organized as a nonprofit corporation under the laws of the State of Indiana.

4. Purpose and Limitations

The purposes of the church are:

- a. To be united in the confession that Jesus Christ is King, to proclaim the word of the King, and to construct all of life according to the word of the King, Jesus;
- b. To operate exclusively for religious, charitable, and educational purposes within the classification of legal charities; and no part of the net earnings of the organization shall inure to the benefit of any private stockholder or individual; and no substantial part of the activities of the organization, or any receipt of its funds, shall be utilized for any other purpose except those purposes mentioned above;

- c. To handle affairs pertaining to property and other temporal matters as required by the civil authorities.
- d. The church shall not have or issue shares of stock, and no dividends shall be paid. The church is prohibited from lending money to guarantee the obligation of a member or officer of the church. No member or officer of the church has any vested right, interest or privilege in or to the assets, property, functions, or activities of the church. The church may contract in due course, for reasonable consideration, with its members or officers without violating this provision.

5. Location of Office

The registered office of the church shall be located within Indiana at the address of the church's registered agent. The Board of Directors (also known as the Board of Elders) or a majority of the members may change the registered agent and the address of the registered office from time to time, upon filing the appropriate statement with the Indiana Secretary of State.

6. Membership

- a. The membership shall consist of all communicant, non-communicant members, and associate members, all of whom have the privilege of pastoral oversight, instruction, and government by the church. Communicant members are those who have been baptized, have made a credible profession of faith in Christ, and have been received into membership as provided in section 6.b. Non-communicant members are the children of communicant members. Associate members are those believers temporarily residing in a location other than their permanent homes. Such believers may become associate members without ceasing to be members of their home churches. An associate member shall have all the rights and privileges of communicant members with the exception of voting in a congregational meeting and holding office in the church.
- b. Parents or sponsors of minor children who become members will sign the Membership Commitment form along with the minor children. These parents and sponsors must themselves be members in good standing of the church. When these children reach the age of eighteen, they shall meet with an elder or pastor of the church and, as a testimony to their continued confession, re-sign the Membership Commitment as adults.
- c. A person may be received into membership by a letter of transfer from another church of like faith and practice approved by the Board of Elders, by reaffirmation of faith, or by confession of faith. In order to be received into membership, a person must complete the membership course if available, submit a Membership Application, sign a Membership Commitment, and be accepted by the Session (Board of Elders).
- d. All male communicant members who are heads of households (A household may consist of a single adult male who is living on his own and not under the direct authority of another head of household) and in good standing in the church shall be voting members. ("Good standing" means that a member is not presently under the censure of suspension or deposition.) Heads of households are to represent their household in voting, therefore they should consider the interests of the whole household and of the whole church in their vote. Any voting member in attendance at a duly called meeting shall be entitled to one vote on matters brought before the congregation. Voting by proxy shall not be permitted. The pastor(s) shall also be entitled to vote.
- e. Members may be removed from membership at their own request by informing the Board of Elders of their intention to withdraw and the reasons therefore. If a member requests to withdraw because of

specific problems or disappointments with the church, the Board of Elders shall attempt to resolve those matters so that the member may remain in the church and enjoy greater fruitfulness and personal spiritual growth. If the Board of Elders is unable to resolve those matters, it may offer to assist the member in locating a church of like faith and practice that can respond more effectively to his gifts and needs. If it appears to the Board of Elders that a member has requested removal merely to avoid church discipline, that request shall not be given effect until the disciplinary process has been properly concluded (see Matt. 18:12-20; Bylaw §16; Guidelines on Church Discipline).

- f. Members may also be removed from membership by order of the Board of Elders when they: persistently, over an extended period of time, and without adequate reason absent themselves from the stated services of the church; unite with a church of another denomination; cannot be found for a period greater than one year; or are removed by excommunication for persistent impenitence (see Bylaw §16; Guidelines on Church Discipline). Non-communicant members may be removed from membership with their parents or when they reject the covenantal responsibility of submission to home or church and neglect the ongoing exhortation of the Board of Elders to profess faith in Christ.

7. Elders and Deacons

- a. Elders and deacons must be male voting members (and meet biblical qualifications). In order to be eligible for confirmation, a man shall have been a member in good standing in the church for at least one year, shall have received appropriate training under the direction or with the approval of the Board of Elders, and shall have served the church in functions requiring responsible leadership.
- b. Elders, individually and jointly with the pastor, are to lead the church in the service of Christ. They are to watch diligently over the people committed to their charge to prevent corruption of doctrine or morals. Evils that they cannot correct by private admonition they should bring to the notice of the Board of Elders. They should visit the people, especially the sick, instruct the ignorant, comfort the mourning, and nourish and guard the children of the covenant. They should pray with and for the people. They should have particular concern for the doctrine and conduct of the pastor and help him in his labors.
- c. Deacons shall show forth the compassion of Christ in a manifold ministry of mercy toward the saints and strangers on behalf of the church. As delegated and directed by the Board of Elders, they shall minister to the temporal needs of members and friends, manage the church finances, and see to the care and maintenance of church property.
- d. The Board of Elders reserves the right to limit the number of men for each office as they deem to be in the best interest of the church. Any voting member may propose to the Board of Elders nominations for the offices of elder and deacon. The Board of Elders shall certify those nominees whom, upon examination, it judges to possess the necessary qualifications for office. An elder or deacon who had been previously certified but who resigned from or was divested of the office must be re-certified. At least two (2) Lord's Days preceding the date appointed for the confirmation the Board of Elders shall announce to the church in the bulletin the names of those it has certified and recommended for confirmation. This will allow anyone who has serious reservations about any nominee to approach the Board of Elders for reconsideration. Confirmation shall be from those recommended by the Board of Elders. Voting on the confirmation of elders and deacons shall be done by secret ballot, and each vote shall be cast either in favor of or against the confirmation of each candidate, and those candidates receiving the vote of two-thirds (2/3) in favor of their confirmation shall be deemed elected. Elders and deacons shall be elected for three-year terms of service. If an elder or deacon is elected at a meeting other than the annual congregational meeting, his regular term shall expire at the time of the second annual congregational meeting following his confirmation. Any elder or deacon who has

served three consecutive terms must take a one year sabbatical before serving again in that particular office.

- e. An elder or deacon may be divested of his office by church discipline for an offense in doctrine or life. He may also be divested upon a two-thirds (2/3) vote of the congregation. An elder or deacon also may resign from his office.

8. Pastor

- a. It is the charge of the pastor to feed and tend the flock as Christ's minister and with the other elders to lead them in all the service of Christ. It is his task to conduct the public worship of God; to pray for and with Christ's flock as the mouth of the people unto God; to feed the flock by the public reading and preaching of the Word of God, according to which he is to teach, convince, reprove, exhort, comfort, and evangelize, expounding and applying the truth of Scripture with ministerial authority, as a diligent workman approved by God; to administer the sacraments; to bless the people from God; to shepherd the flock and minister the Word according to the particular needs of groups, families, and individuals in the congregation, catechizing by teaching plainly the first principles of the oracles of God to the baptized youth and to adults who are yet babes in Christ, visiting in the home of people, instructing and counseling individuals, and training them to be faithful servants of Christ; to minister to the poor, the sick, the afflicted, and the dying; and to make known the gospel to the lost.
- b. If the congregation chooses to elect an associate pastor, his relationship to the church shall be determined by the congregation. If the Board of Elders calls an assistant pastor, his relationship with the church shall be determined by the Board of Elders.
- c. The pastor and associate pastor shall be elected by the congregation as follows:
 - (1) When the congregation desires to call a pastor it shall ordinarily choose a special committee from its own membership to assist in selecting him. If the committee is not identical with the Board of Elders, invitations to preach to the congregation shall be issued only with the approval of the Board of Elders. No person shall be called by the congregation without the prior approval of the Board of Elders, except that one quarter (1/4) of all of those entitled to vote may present a nomination to the congregation, such nomination having been previously submitted to the special committee for its consideration.
 - (2) When the special committee is prepared to make its report it shall inform the Board of Elders and present to it a copy of its proposed report so that the Board of Elders may consider such nominations as may be contemplated in the proposed report. The Board of Elders shall then convene a meeting of the congregation with the purpose of hearing the report of the committee and acting on it; it shall, however, always be the duty of the Board of Elders to convene the congregation in accordance with Bylaw §11 and to conduct the meeting in accordance with that section.
 - (3) When the meeting has been convened and the call of the meeting has been found in order, it is expedient that the moderator give an exhortation to the congregation suited to the purpose of its coming together. The special committee, or the Board of Elders, shall then present its report, after which the congregation shall determine whether it wishes to proceed to call a pastor.
 - (4) If the congregation decides to vote to call a pastor the moderator shall conduct the election. The voting shall be by ballot, a majority being required for election.

If the vote is unanimous a call shall be drawn in due form. If there is a majority and a minority the moderator shall address the congregation seeking to persuade the minority to concur in the call. A ballot shall then be taken to determine the number concurring in the call. If there is still a minority unwilling to concur, the moderator shall advise the majority and the minority concerning their mutual responsibilities. A final ballot shall then be taken to determine the number desiring to prosecute the call in the circumstances. If a majority decides to prosecute the call it shall be drawn in due form and the candidate shall be informed of the proceedings.

If at any point in the meeting the congregation decides not to call a pastor it may refer the matter back to the special committee, or to the Board of Elders, as the case may be, for report to a later meeting, or take such other action as may be appropriate.

- (5) When the congregation has determined to issue a call it shall by vote determine the terms of the call, and shall order it subscribed either by the electors, or by the Board of Elders or other representatives of its choice. The Board of Elders shall then draw up the call in proper form and see to its signing by the proper signatories.
- (6) The moderator shall certify as to the validity of the meeting of the congregation and that the call as presented has been prepared in all respects as directed by the vote of the congregation.

- d. Assistant and associate pastors shall serve as ex officio members of the Board of Elders and Deacons, having voice but no vote.
- e. The pastor may resign his position upon thirty days written notice. If a significant portion of the congregation believes that the pastor's services are no longer edifying to the congregation, and if private efforts to remedy the situation are unsuccessful, the ministerial relationship may be dissolved as follows: (1) a special congregational meeting shall be called as provided in the bylaw on congregational meetings; (2) those requesting the pastor's resignation shall be allowed to state the reasons for their request, and the pastor shall be given the opportunity to respond, as shall other members of the church; (3) the meeting shall be adjourned to a time not sooner than one week later and not later than two weeks later; (4) at the next congregational meeting, further appropriate debate shall be allowed, and a vote shall be taken; (5) the ministerial relationship may be dissolved upon a two-thirds (2/3) vote. If the ministerial relationship is dissolved, the church shall provide the pastor with at least three months severance pay, and shall consider providing such other assistance as is necessary for his needs and the needs of his family while he seeks other employment.

9. Board of Elders (Board of Directors)

- a. The Board of Elders is the governing body (Board of Directors) of the church and consists of the pastor, ruling elders, and, ex officio, assistant and associate pastors. The Board of Elders shall have the power and authority to make rules and regulations not inconsistent with the laws of the State of Indiana, the Constitution, and these Bylaws. The Board of Elders shall manage the business affairs of the corporation, oversee all matters concerning the conduct of public worship, and it shall concert the best measures for promoting the spiritual growth and evangelistic witness of the congregation. It shall receive, dismiss, and exercise discipline over the members of the church, supervise the activities of the Board of Deacons and all other organizations of the congregation, and have final authority over the use of the church property.
- b. The moderator (chairman) of the Board of Elders shall be the pastor. The Board of Elders shall choose its own clerk (secretary) annually from among its members. The Board of Elders may also choose a vice-moderator from among its members, and shall appoint a treasurer, who must be a voting member

of the church and shall ordinarily be a deacon. If the elders appoint a treasurer who is not a deacon, then the treasurer shall serve as an ex officio member of the board of deacons.

- c. The Board of Elders shall have final authority for affairs pertaining to property and other temporal matters as required by civil law for nonprofit corporations. In particular, the Board of Elders shall be responsible for the acquisition and disposition of church property, which includes the management of its financial resources. Neither the Board of Elders nor its delegates shall have the power to buy, sell, mortgage, pledge or in any manner encumber any church property worth more than \$50,000, nor to incur any indebtedness exceeding the sum of \$50,000, unless first authorized to do so at a congregational meeting, either through the adoption of the annual budget or by special action of the congregation. The Board of Elders may delegate to the Board of Deacons or to other communicant members such of these responsibilities as it deems appropriate.
- d. The Board of Elders shall meet at least quarterly and shall convene at the call of the moderator, any two members of the Board of Elders, or upon its own adjournment. Either oral or written notice, including the date, time, and place of a meeting, shall be given at least two days before a meeting. If mailed, notice shall be deemed to be effective the day after the letter is postmarked. Notice may be waived either orally or in writing. An elder's or pastor's attendance at a meeting waives his right to object to lack of notice or defective notice of the meeting, unless at the beginning of the meeting (or promptly upon arrival), he objects to holding the meeting or transacting business at the meeting, and does not vote for or assent to action taken at the meeting.
- e. If there are three or more elders, a quorum is two elders together with the moderator. If there are fewer than three elders, a quorum is one elder together with the moderator. In no case may the Board of Elders conduct its business with fewer than two present who are entitled to vote. When the church is without a pastor, the Board of Elders shall invite a minister to meet with them; he shall have the right to vote, and to be elected to moderate the meeting. When it is impractical without great inconvenience for a minister to attend, those present may conduct business, but the grounds for the call of such a meeting shall be reviewed at the next meeting at which a minister is present.
- f. The act of a majority present at a Board of Elders meeting at which a quorum is present (when the vote is taken) shall be the act of the Board of Elders. A pastor or elder shall be deemed to have approved of an action taken if he is present at a meeting of the Board of Elders unless: (1) he objects at the beginning of the meeting (or promptly upon arrival) to holding it or transacting business at the meeting; or (2) his dissent or abstention from the action taken is entered in the minutes of the meeting; or (3) he did not approve the action and he delivers written notice of dissent or abstention to the presiding officer of the meeting before its adjournment or immediately after adjournment of the meeting.
- g. From the founding of the church and until such time as God raises up qualified men from her midst to serve as elders, the Board of Elders shall be comprised of the pastor and, ex officio, assistant and associate pastors, and no fewer than two elders of a nearby church of common belief and practice. It shall be the pastor's responsibility to find such men willing to serve on the Board of Elders.
- h. If at any time there are less than three persons on the Board of Elders entitled to vote, the congregation may confirm from the Board of Deacons and, if necessary, from among the voting members, individuals who will temporarily serve as directors of the church for the purpose of carrying out any required corporate business. The terms of such temporary directors shall expire when sufficient elders have been confirmed and ordained to bring the number of the Board of Elders to three or more.

- i. The Board of Elders may meet by means of a conference telephone call or similar communications equipment, provided all persons entitled to participate in the meeting received proper notice of the telephone meeting, and provided all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other at the same time. A member participating in a conference telephone meeting is deemed present in person at the meeting. The moderator of the meeting may establish reasonable rules as to conducting business at any meeting by phone.
- j. The moderator shall be the chairman of the Board of Directors and the principal executive officer (president) of the corporation. While performing his moderatorial duties, the moderator shall be subject to the control of the Board of Elders, and shall in general supervise and control, in good faith, all of the business and affairs of the church. The moderator shall, when present, preside at all meetings of the members and of the Board of Elders, and shall conduct such meetings so as to facilitate free and respectful debate and decision making. The moderator may sign, with the secretary or any other proper officer of the church that the Board of Elders has authorized, corporation deeds, mortgages, bonds, contracts, or other Board of Elders authorized instruments.
- k. The vice-moderator (vice-chairman), shall perform, in good faith, the moderator's duties if the moderator is absent, dies, is unable or refuses to act. If the vice-moderator acts in the absence of the moderator, the vice-moderator shall have all of the powers of and be subject to all the restrictions upon the moderator. If there is no vice-moderator or the vice moderator is unable or refuses to act, then the secretary shall perform the moderatorial duties. In any case, the regulations of paragraph 9.e. apply.
- l. The clerk shall be the secretary of the church and shall in good faith: (1) create and maintain one or more books for the minutes of the proceedings of the members and of the Board of Elders; (2) provide that all notices are served in accordance with these bylaws or as required by law; (3) be custodian of the church and corporate records; (4) subscribe the minutes of all meetings of the members and of the Board of Elders; (5) when requested or required, authenticate any records of the church; (6) keep a current register of the post office address of each member; and (7) in general perform all duties incident to the office of secretary and any other duties that the moderator or the Board of Elders may assign to the secretary.
- m. The treasurer shall: (1) have charge and custody of and be responsible for all funds and securities of the church; (2) receive and give receipts for moneys due and payable to the church from any source, and deposit all moneys in the church's name in banks, trust companies, or other depositaries that the Board of Elders shall select; (3) submit the books and records to a Certified Public Accountant or other accountant as directed by the Board of Elders; and (4) in general perform all of the duties incident to the office of treasurer and any other duties that the moderator or Board of Elders may assign to the treasurer. If required by the Board of Elders, the treasurer shall give a bond for the faithful performance of the treasurer's duties and as insurance against the misappropriation of funds. If a bond is required, it shall be in a sum and with the surety or sureties that the Board of Elders shall determine.
- n. The Board of Elders may establish such committees as it deems necessary for the work of the church.

10. Board of Deacons

The Board of Deacons shall oversee the ministry of mercy in the church and shall collect and disperse funds for the relief of the needy. Other forms of service for the church may also be committed to the deacons. The Board of Deacons shall choose its own officers from its membership.

11. Congregational Meetings

- a. Each year the church will adopt an annual budget for the following fiscal year, confirm elders and deacons as necessary, present annual reports and transact any other business at one or more congregational meetings as determined by the Board of Elders. Each meeting shall be held at a date, time, and place to be determined by the Board of Elders.
- b. Special meetings of the church shall be called at a date and location to be determined by the Board of Elders whenever the Board of Elders deems it to be in the best interests of the church or when requested in writing to do so by one-fourth (1/4) of the voting members of the church in good standing.
- c. The date, time, and location of all congregational meetings must be announced orally or in the church bulletin at least two (2) Lord's Days prior to the time set for the meeting, or by letter mailed at least ten days prior to the meeting. If the voting members adjourn any congregational meeting to a different date, time, or place, notice of a new date, time, and place need not be given if the new date, time, and place is announced before adjournment. A member entitled to a notice may waive notice of the meeting (or any notice required by laws of the State of Indiana or these bylaws) by a written notice signed by the member. The member must send the notice of waiver to the church (either before or after the date and time stated in the notice) for inclusion in the minutes or filing with the church records.
- d. The purpose of a meeting shall be announced in advance if it involves: a proposed amendment to the bylaws or articles of incorporation; the confirmation or removal of officers; the calling or removal of the pastor or an associate pastor; the acquisition or disposition of property worth more than \$50,000; the dissolution of the church; or a question regarding the church's denominational affiliation. When a meeting is called for the transaction of specific matters of business, no business shall be conducted except that which is stated in the notice.
- e. A member's attendance at a meeting: waives the member's right to object to lack of notice or defective notice of the meeting, unless the member at the beginning of the meeting objects to holding the meeting or transacting business at the meeting; and, waives the member's right to object to consideration of a particular matter at the meeting that is not within the purpose or purposes described in the meeting notice, unless the member objects to considering the matter when it is presented.
- f. One-fourth (1/4) of the voting members shall constitute a quorum at congregational meetings. Unless provided otherwise in these Bylaws, a majority vote of those in attendance, a quorum being present, is sufficient to decide any matter.
- g. The moderator and the clerk of the Board of Elders shall serve as moderator and clerk respectively in congregational meetings.

12. Church Records

- a. The Board of Elders shall keep the following records: (1) minutes of its meetings, including a record of the administration of the sacraments and changes in the membership of the congregation; (2) minutes of the meetings of the congregation; (3) rolls of the members in the congregation (communicant, non-communicant, and voting), with the dates of their reception; (4) resolutions adopted by the Board of Elders; (5) appropriate accounting records; (6) its articles or restated articles of incorporation and all amendments to them currently in effect; and (7) its bylaws or restated bylaws and all amendments to them currently in effect.
- b. A member shall be entitled to inspect and copy, at a reasonable time and location specified by the Board of Elders, any of the church records described above, provided the Board of Elders finds that

the member has a proper purpose and is acting in good faith. The Board of Elders may limit access to any records that contain confidential information about a particular person or persons.

13. Biblical Counseling

- a. All Christians struggle with sin and the effect it has on our lives and our relationships (see Rom. 3:23; 7:7-25). Whenever a Christian is unable to overcome sinful attitudes or behaviors through private efforts, God commands that he should seek assistance from other members, and especially from the pastor and elders, who have the responsibility of providing pastoral counseling and oversight (see Rom. 15:14; Gal. 6:1-2; Col. 3:16; 2 Tim. 3:16-4:2; Heb. 10:24-25; 13:17; James 5:16). Therefore, this church encourages and enjoins its members to make confession to and seek counsel from each other and especially from our pastors, elders, and other pastoral counselors.
- b. We believe that the Bible provides thorough guidance and instruction for faith and life. Therefore, our counseling shall be based on scriptural principles rather than those of secular psychology or psychiatry. Neither the pastoral nor the lay counselors of this church are trained or licensed as psychotherapists or mental health professionals, nor should they be expected to follow the methods of such specialists.
- c. Although some members of the church work in professional fields outside the church, when serving as pastoral or lay counselors within the church they do not provide the same kind of professional advice and services that they do when they are hired in their professional capacities. Therefore, members who have significant legal, financial, medical, or other technical questions should seek advice from independent professionals. Our pastoral and lay counselors shall be available to cooperate with such advisors and help members to consider their advice in the light of relevant scriptural principles.

14. Confidentiality

- a. The Bible teaches that Christians should carefully guard any personal and private information that others reveal to them. Protecting confidences is a sign of Christian love and respect (see Matt. 7:12). It also discourages harmful gossip (Prov. 16:28; 26:20), invites confession (see Prov. 11:13; 28:13; James 5:16), and encourages people to seek needed counseling (see Prov. 20:19; Rom. 15:14). Since these goals are essential to the ministry of the gospel and the work of this church, all members are expected to refrain from gossip and to respect the confidences of others. In particular, our pastor and elders shall carefully protect all information that they receive through pastoral counseling, subject to the following guidelines.
- b. Although confidentiality is to be respected as much as possible, there are times when it is appropriate to reveal certain information to others. In particular, when the pastors and elders of this church believe it is biblically necessary, they may disclose confidential information to appropriate people in the following circumstances:
 - (1) When a pastor or elder is uncertain of how to counsel a person about a particular problem and needs to seek advice from other pastors or elders in this church or, if the person attends another church, from the pastors or elders of that church (see Prov. 11:14; 13:10; 15:22; 19:20; 20:18; Matt. 18:15-17);
 - (2) When the person who disclosed the information or any other person is in imminent danger of serious harm unless others intervene (see Prov. 24:11-12);

- (3) When a person refuses to repent of sin and it becomes necessary to institute disciplinary proceedings (see Matt. 18:15-20 and Bylaw §16) or seek the assistance of individuals or agencies outside this church (see, e.g., Rom. 13:1-5); or
 - (4) When required by law to report suspected child abuse.
- c. Scripture commands that confidential information is to be shared with others only when a problem cannot be resolved through the efforts of a small group of people within the church (Matt. 18:15-17). Therefore, except as provided in §14.b., a pastor or elder may not disclose confidential information to anyone outside this church without the approval of the Board of Elders or the consent of the person who originally disclosed the information. The Board of Elders may approve such disclosure only when it finds that all internal efforts to resolve a problem have been exhausted (see, e.g., 1 Cor. 6:1-8) and the problem cannot be satisfactorily resolved without the assistance of individuals or agencies outside this church (see, e.g., Rom. 13:1-5).
 - d. The pastors and elders may, but need not, provide counselees with written notice of these confidentiality provisions, but these provisions shall be in effect regardless of whether such notice is given.

15. Conflict Resolution

- a. This church is committed to resolving in a biblical manner all disputes that may arise within our body. This commitment is based on God's command that Christians should strive earnestly to live at peace with one another (see Matt. 5:9; John 17:20-23; Rom. 12:18; and Eph. 4:1-3) and that when disputes arise, Christians should resolve them according to the principles set forth in Holy Scripture (see Prov. 19:11; Matt. 5:23-25; 18:15-20; 1 Cor. 6:1-8; Gal. 6:1). We believe that these commands and principles are obligatory on all Christians and absolutely essential for the well-being and work of the church. Therefore, any and all disputes in this church shall be resolved according to biblical principles, as provided in this bylaw.
- b. When a member of this church has a conflict with, or is concerned about the behavior of another member, he shall attempt to resolve the matter as follows. (1) The offended or concerned person shall prayerfully examine himself and take responsibility for his contribution to a problem (Matt. 7:3-5), and he shall prayerfully seek to discern whether the offense is so serious that it cannot be overlooked (Prov. 19:11; see also Prov. 12:16; 15:18; 17:14; 20:3; Eph. 4:2; Col. 3:13; 1 Pet. 4:8). (2) If the offense is too serious to overlook, the offended or concerned person shall go, repeatedly if necessary, and talk to the offender in an effort to resolve the matter personally and privately, having first confessed his own wrongdoing (Matt. 18:15). (3) If the offender will not listen and if the problem is too serious to overlook, the offended or concerned person shall return with one or two other people who will attempt to help the parties resolve their differences (Matt. 18:16); these other people may be members or officers of the church, other respected Christians in the community, or trained mediators or arbitrators (conciliators) from a Christian conciliation ministry. At the request of either party to the dispute, the church shall make every effort to assist the parties in resolving their differences and being reconciled.
- c. Conflicts involving doctrine or church discipline shall be resolved according to the procedures set forth in the Bylaws on Church Discipline.
- d. Employment disputes shall be resolved according to the procedures set forth in the *Employee Policy Manual* of this church as adopted by the Board of Elders.

- e. If a dispute arises within the church or between a member and the church and cannot be resolved through the internal procedures described above, it shall be resolved as follows:
 - (1) The dispute shall be submitted to mediation and, if necessary, legally binding arbitration in accordance with the *Rules of Procedure* of the Institute for Christian Conciliation, and judgment upon an arbitration award may be entered in any court otherwise having jurisdiction.
 - (2) All mediators and arbitrators shall be in agreement with the Constitution and Bylaws of the church and our basic form of government, unless this requirement is modified or waived by all parties to the dispute. If a dispute involves an attempted revision of the Constitution or Bylaws of the church or our form of government, the mediators and arbitrators shall be in agreement with those documents as they existed prior to the attempted revision.
 - (3) If a dispute submitted to arbitration involves a decision reached by an official judicatory (court or ruling body) of this church, the arbitrators shall uphold the judicatory's decisions on matters of doctrine and church discipline.
 - (4) This section covers the church as a corporate entity and its agents, including its pastors, officers, staff, and volunteers with regard to any actions they may take in their official capacities.
 - (5) This section covers any and all disputes or claims arising from or related to church membership, doctrine, policy, practice, counseling, discipline, decisions, actions, or failures to act, including claims based on civil statute or for personal injury.
 - (6) By signing the Christian conciliation commitment, members agree that these methods shall provide the sole remedy for any dispute arising against the church and its agents, and they waive their right to file any legal action against the church in a civil court or agency, except to enforce an arbitration decision.
 - (7) If a dispute or claim involves an alleged injury or damage to which the church's insurance applies, and if the church's insurer refuses to submit to mediation or arbitration as described in this section, either the church or the member alleging the injury or damage may declare that this section is no longer binding with regard to that part of the dispute or claim to which the church's insurance applies.

16. Church Discipline

Church discipline shall be carried out according to the Guidelines for Church Discipline as adopted by the Board of Elders.

17. Ownership and Distribution of Property

- a. The church shall hold, own, and enjoy its own personal and real property, without any right of reversion to another entity, except as provided in these Bylaws.
- b. "Dissolution" means the complete disbanding of the church so that it no longer functions as a congregation or as a corporate entity. Upon the dissolution of the church, its property shall be applied and distributed as follows: (1) all liabilities and obligations of the church shall be paid and discharged or adequate provision shall be made therefore; (2) assets held by the church upon condition requiring return, transfer, or conveyance, which condition occurs by reason of the dissolution, shall be returned, transferred, or conveyed in accordance with such requirements; (3) assets received and not held upon a condition requiring return, transfer, or conveyance by reason of the dissolution, shall be transferred or

conveyed to one or more domestic or foreign corporations, societies, or organizations that qualify as exempt organizations under section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 (or the corresponding provision of any future United States Internal Revenue Law), and are engaged in activities substantially similar to those of the corporation; this distribution shall be done pursuant to a plan adopted by the Board of Elders, provided that no assets are distributed to any organization governed by a member of the Board of Elders; and (4) any assets not otherwise disposed of shall be disposed of by a court of competent jurisdiction of the county in which the principal office of the corporation is then located, for such purposes and to such organizations as said court shall determine.

18. Indemnification of Officers

- a. The Board of Elders may choose to indemnify and advance the church-related expenses of any officer, employee, or agent of the church.
- b. Subject to the provisions of paragraph c. of this section, the church shall indemnify any elder or deacon or former elder or deacon of the church against claims, liabilities, expenses, and costs necessarily incurred by him in connection with the defense, compromise, or settlement of any action, suit or proceeding, civil or criminal, in which such person is made a party by reason of being or having been an elder or deacon, to the extent not otherwise compensated, indemnified or reimbursed by insurance, if:
 - (1) The conduct of the elder or deacon was in good faith;
 - (2) The elder or deacon reasonably believed that his conduct was in the best interests of the church, or at least not opposed to its best interests; and
 - (3) In the case of any criminal proceeding, the elder or deacon had no reasonable cause to believe that his conduct was unlawful.
- c. The church may not indemnify an elder or deacon in connection with a proceeding brought against him by or in the right of the church, in which he was adjudged liable to the church, or where the elder or deacon is charged with receiving an improper personal benefit and he is adjudged liable on that basis.

19. Committees

The chairmen of all committees shall be designated by the Board of Elders. The Chairman of each committee shall appoint members to the committee in consultation with the Board of Elders. The pastor, or his designee, is an ex officio member of all committees. All other operations of the committee are to be determined by the current edition of *Robert's Rules of Order*.

20. Rules of Order

All meetings of the church, the Board of Elders, and its various boards and committees shall be conducted pursuant to the latest edition of *Robert's Rules of Order*.

21. Amendment of Bylaws

These Bylaws may be amended or repealed only by the affirmative vote of two-thirds (2/3) of the voting members present at a duly-called meeting of the church called for such purposes.

GUIDELINES FOR CHURCH DISCIPLINE

1. Church discipline shall be instituted according to these Bylaws.
2. Mutual accountability and discipline within the church is commanded by God in Scripture and is one of the most important responsibilities of a true church of Jesus Christ (see Matt. 18:12-20; Rom. 16:17; 1 Cor. 5:1-13; 2 Cor. 2:5-11; Gal. 2:11-14; Eph. 5:11; 1 Thess. 5:14; 2 Thess. 3:6-15; Tim. 1:20; 5:19-20; 2 Tim. 3:1-5; Titus 3:10; Heb. 10:24-30; 12:5-17; 2 John 7-11; Rev. 3:19).
3. Church (ecclesiastical) discipline is the exercise of that authority that the Lord Jesus Christ has committed to the visible church for the preservation of its purity, peace, and good order.¹ All members of the church, both communicant and non-communicant, are under the care of and subject to the discipline of the church. The ultimate goal of all discipline is to train Christians to be self-disciplined so that they may share in the holiness of God (see Heb. 12:7-13).
4. Discipline may be either administrative or judicial. Administrative discipline is concerned with the maintenance of good order in the government of the church in other than judicial cases. Its purpose is to see that all rights are preserved and all obligations are fully discharged. Judicial discipline is concerned with the prevention and correction of offenses, an offense being defined as anything in the doctrine or practice of a member of the church that is contrary to the Word of God. The purpose of judicial discipline is: (1) to guard and preserve the honor of God (see Rom. 2:24; 1 Cor. 10:31); (2) to protect the purity of the church and to guard other Christians from being tempted, misled, divided, or otherwise harmed (see 1 Cor. 5:6); and (3) to restore fallen Christians to usefulness to God and fellowship with His church (see Matt. 18:12-14; 2 Cor. 2:5-11; 7:8-10; Gal. 6:1-2).
5. Discipline involves three components or phases: (1) God commands all Christians to make every effort, with His help, to discipline themselves and lead godly lives (see Eph. 4:25-5:6; 2 Tim. 1:7; 2 Pet. 1:5-11); (2) if a Christian fails to discipline himself and is trapped in a sin, God commands other brothers and sisters in Christ to lovingly confront, counsel, and encourage him toward repentance (see Bylaw §15.b; Matt. 18:15-16; Gal. 6:1-2; Col. 3:16; Heb. 10:24-25); (3) if these personal and informal efforts do not correct an offense, God commands the church leaders to intervene and exercise their ecclesiastical authority to resolve the matter, protect the church, and, if possible, restore the offender (see Matt. 18:17-20; 1 Cor. 5:1-13; 2 Tim. 4:2; Heb. 13:17). This third phase, which may be referred to as judicial or formal discipline, involves a judicial proceeding (trial) before the Board of Elders, or their designated representatives. Such a trial shall be carried out according to the following procedures, which are designed to provide due process for the offender and promote a just resolution.
6. When an offense is personal and known only to a few individuals, discipline may not be instituted until there has been a good faith effort to resolve the matter privately and informally (see Bylaw §15.b). No charge may be accepted if it is filed more than two years after the commission of the alleged offense, unless it appears that unavoidable impediments have prevented an earlier filing of the charge. Every charge must be submitted to the Board of Elders in writing. A person may be censured for filing a charge that the Board of Elders determines to be without merit (see Deut. 19:16-21).
7. An offense that is serious enough to warrant judicial discipline and a trial is: (1) an offense in the area of conduct and practice that seriously disturbs the peace, purity, and/or unity of the church; (2) an offense in the area of doctrine for a non-ordained member that would constitute a denial of a credible profession of faith as reflected in his membership vows; or (3) an offense in the area of doctrine for an ordained officer that would constitute a violation of the system of doctrine contained in the Holy Scriptures as that system is set forth in

- our Constitution (see Bylaw §2). When the Board of Elders, or their designated representatives, convenes to determine whether an offense has occurred and to administer censure, it shall be referred to as a “judicatory.”
8. Just as a good shepherd will go after a sheep that has wandered from the flock (Matt. 18:12-14; Ezek. 34:4,8,16), so shall the elders and members of this church seek to restore a wandering member to the Lord through biblical discipline. Therefore, discipline may be instituted or continued either before or after a member seeks to withdraw from membership if the Board of Elders determines that such discipline may serve to guard and preserve the honor of God, protect the purity of the church, or restore the wandering member to the Lord (see §4). While the church cannot force a withdrawing person to remain in this congregation, the church has the right and the responsibility to encourage restoration, to bring the disciplinary process to an orderly conclusion, and to make a final determination as to the person’s membership status at the time withdrawal is sought or acknowledged. In doing so, the Board of Elders, at its discretion, may temporarily suspend further disciplinary proceedings, dismiss any or all charges pending against the accused, or proceed with discipline and pronounce an appropriate censure as provided in sections 19, 20, and 21.
 9. A person accused of an offense shall be given a written citation to appear before the judicatory at a specific time and place. The citation may, but need not, specify the charges and specifications that have been brought against the accused. Ordinarily all citations shall be served in person, but in case that is not possible, citations shall be sent by certified mail to the person cited.
 10. At the first meeting of the judicatory only these actions may be taken: (1) the charges and specifications shall be read and formally presented to the accused together with the names of any witnesses and copies of any documents that may be presented against him; (2) the judicatory shall fix the time, date, and place for a second meeting of the judicatory, which shall not be less than ten days later, and shall issue citations directing all persons to appear at that time whose presence it may deem necessary; and (3) the accused shall be granted citations in which he may insert the names of the witnesses whom he wishes the judicatory to summon.
 11. If an accused refuses or fails to appear without satisfactory reason for his absence at the time appointed for the trial of the case, he shall again be cited, with the warning that, if he does not appear, the judicatory will proceed with the trial in his absence. The time allowed for the appearance on citation shall be determined by the judicatory with due consideration for the circumstances. If the accused still refuses or fails to appear, the trial may proceed in his absence. When proceeding in the absence of the accused, the judicatory shall appoint counsel for the accused, who shall present a case to the judicatory in defense of the accused. Such counsel shall be entitled to present evidence, interview witnesses, interpose objections, and otherwise act in defense of the accused.
 12. If unusual circumstances require it, a judicatory may deny an accused person the right of participating in the Lord’s Supper or of performing the functions of his office, until a case is concluded.
 13. If the accused appears at the second meeting of the judicatory, he shall be called to plead “guilty” or “not guilty” to the charges. If he pleads “not guilty,” the judicatory shall proceed to receive evidence. The judicatory shall ordinarily sit with open doors, and must do so when hearing a charge of heresy. No person shall be deprived of the right to set forth, plead, or offer into evidence the provisions of the Word of God or of the subordinate standards. If subsequent meetings of the judicatory are required, the accused and all witnesses shall be cited to appear as provided above.
 14. The accused shall be entitled to assistance of counsel. No person shall be eligible to act as counsel who does not affirm the Constitution (see Bylaw §2) of this church. The accused shall be allowed one copy of the minutes at the expense of the judicatory.
 15. Any person may be a witness in a judicial case if the judicatory is satisfied that he has sufficient competence to make the following affirmation, which is required of all witnesses: “I solemnly swear that by

the grace of God I will speak the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth concerning the matters on which I am called to testify.”

16. Evidence must be factual in nature. It may be direct or circumstantial. Caution should be exercised in giving weight to evidence that is purely circumstantial. The accused may object to the competency of any witness and to the authenticity, admissibility, and relevancy of any testimony or evidence produced in support of the charge and specifications. The judicatory shall decide on all such objections after allowing the accused to be heard in support thereof. The testimony of one witness shall be insufficient to establish the truth of any specification. If the accused so requests, no witness, unless a member of the judicatory, shall testify in the presence of another witness who is to testify concerning the same specification.
17. At the conclusion of the trial, the accused may make a final argument with respect to the evidence and the law of the church. The judicatory, after deliberation, shall vote on each charge and each specification separately. If the judicatory decides that the accused is guilty, it shall proceed to determine the censure.
18. If a person who has been adjudged guilty refuses or fails to present himself for censure at the time appointed, the judicatory shall cite him to appear at another time. If he does not appear after this citation, the censure may be pronounced in his absence.
19. The following censures may be pronounced by the judicatory:
 - a) Admonition consists in tenderly and solemnly confronting the offender with his sin, warning him of his danger, and exhorting him to repentance and to greater fidelity to the Lord Jesus Christ.
 - b) Rebuke is a form of censure more severe than admonition. It consists in setting forth the serious character of the offense, reproving the offender and exhorting him to repentance and to more perfect fidelity to the Lord Jesus Christ.
 - c) Suspension is a form of discipline by which one is deprived of the privileges of membership in the church, of office, or of both. It may be for a definite or indefinite time. An officer or other member of the church while under suspension, shall be the object of deep solicitude and earnest dealing from the Board of Elders and the church to the end that he may be restored.
 - d) Deposition is a form of censure more severe than suspension. It consists of a solemn declaration by the judicatory that the offender is no longer an officer of the church.
 - e) Excommunication, also referred to as disfellowshipping, is the most severe form of censure and is resorted to only in cases of offenses aggravated by persistent impenitence. It consists of a solemn declaration by a judicatory that the offender is no longer considered a member of the body of Christ.
20. Since the church is a body made up of many parts (see 1 Cor. 12:12-30), what happens to one member of the church necessarily affects and is of legitimate concern to other members (see Rom. 12:15-16; 1 Cor. 5:1-13; 12:12-30). Therefore, the indefinite suspension, deposition or excommunication of a member shall be announced to the church so that its members will be able to pray for, encourage, and exhort the accused as opportunities arise, as well as be on guard against any gossip or divisiveness that might arise from the offense or censure (see 1 Cor. 5:9-11; 2 Thess. 3:6-14; Titus 3:10). The public announcement of censure shall always be accompanied by prayer that God will graciously use the discipline for his own glory, the restoration of the offender, and the edification of the church. This announcement may be made during a regular worship service, at a special meeting of the congregation, or by letter.
21. If an accused leaves the church during the disciplinary process or while a censure is still in effect, and if the Board of Elders learns that he is attending another church, the Board of Elders may inform that church that the person is currently under church discipline and may ask that church to encourage the accused to

repent of his sin and to be restored to the Lord and to any people whom he has offended. Such communications enhance the possibility that a person may finally repent of his sin, and, at the same time, serve to warn the other church to be on guard against the harm that the accused might do to their members (see Matt. 18:12-14; Rom. 16:17; 1 Cor. 5:1-13; 2 Thess. 3:6-14; 2 Tim. 1:15; 2:16-18; 4:9, 14-15; 3 John 9-10).

22. If a person who has been censured through suspension, deposition, or excommunication comes to repentance, the church shall warmly and lovingly restore him to fellowship within the body (see Matt. 18:13; Luke 15:11-32). Once the Board of Elders is persuaded that the person has sincerely confessed his wrongs and sought forgiveness from God and the person or persons he offended, it shall announce his restoration. That announcement shall be accompanied by a solemn admonition to the congregation that the restored person's offenses have been forgiven and are not to be held against him or otherwise hinder his fellowship within the church (see 2 Cor. 2:5-11). When deemed appropriate by the Board of Elders, however, the restored person may be restricted from certain responsibilities within the church until he has demonstrated the requisite qualities for those responsibilities (see, e.g., 1 Tim. 3:2, 8; Titus 1:6).

¹ The modes or types of church discipline vary from the mild to the severe. The following are biblical:

a. Admonition – either private or public [*Rom. 15:14; Col. 3:16; 1 Thess. 3:14-15; Titus 3:10,11*]. The *Oxford English Dictionary* defines 'admonish' as 'to put (one) in mind to do duty; to charge authoritatively, to exhort, to urge (always with a tacit reference to the danger or penalty of failure).' The Scripture {and preaching thereof} is a form of admonition [*1 Cor. 10:11*]. Christians ought to admonish and encourage one another, for example to do good works and to attend the meetings of the church [*Heb. 10:24, 25*].

b. Reprove, rebuke, convince, convict [*Matt. 18:15; Eph. 5:11; 1 Tim. 5:20; 2 Tim. 4:2; Titus 1:9, 12; 2:15*]. The Greek word which is used in the passages just cited is a rich word which means '...to rebuke another with such effectual wielding of the victorious arms of the truth, as to bring him, if not always to a confession, yet at least to a conviction, of his sin...'. This word is also used of the Holy Spirit's work in John 16:8, and is found on the lips of the enthroned Christ in *Rev. 3:19*, where he says: 'As many as I love, I rebuke and chasten: be zealous therefore, and repent.' Thus, proper rebuke is an act of love. The proper guide in such matters is the Word of God which we are told is 'profitable...for reproof' [*2 Tim. 3:16*].

c. Excommunication. The description given by our Lord Jesus Christ and the apostle Paul define this final form of discipline: '...if he neglect to hear the church, let him be unto thee as a heathen and a publican' [*Matt. 18:17*]; 'But now, I have written unto you not to keep company, if any man that is called a brother be a fornicator, or covetous, or an idolater, or a railer, or a drunkard, or an extortioner; with such an one no not to eat.... Therefore put away from among yourselves that wicked person' [*1 Cor. 5:11,13*]. Thus this most severe of the forms of discipline excludes the offender from the church and from all privileges of membership. However, while the person must certainly be excluded from the Lord's Supper, he is not excluded from attendance upon the ministry of the Word preached and taught, for even the non-believers are welcome to the public assemblies [*1 Cor. 14:23-25*]. That this form of discipline is unpleasant and a cause for mourning [*1 Cor. 5:2*] none would doubt. Nevertheless, this practice has associated with it in the New Testament Christ's own sanction [*Matt. 18:18-19*]. Paul claims this sanction when he writes concerning the Corinthian situation that the man be delivered to Satan (i.e. put back into the world which is Satan's domain), 'in the name of our Lord Jesus Christ' and 'with the power of our Lord Jesus Christ' [*1 Cor. 5:4*]. He could hardly state more clearly and decisively that our Lord Jesus Christ himself is the authority behind true excommunication.

Biblical Church Discipline, Daniel E. Wray

Declaration of Doctrine and Policies Concerning Selective Service

SECTION I

Contrary to the policies of the United States Military, God's Word requires the principled opposition to women serving in military combat positions. At her 30th General Assembly (2002) the Presbyterian Church in America adopted the following recommendation from the Ad Interim Study Committee on Women in the Military: "This Assembly declares it to be the biblical duty of man to defend woman and therefore condemns the use of women as military combatants, as well as any conscription of women into the Armed Services of the United States." We reaffirm the arguments made in the majority report of that committee and understand the title of that document to be a succinct summary of Scripture's teaching: "Man's Duty to Protect Woman." The following paragraphs from "Man's Duty to Protect Woman" are a concise summary of the Biblical arguments:

First, God the Father wages war in defense of Israel, His Bride; Christ our Savior fights to the Death defending His Bride, the Church; the Holy Spirit calls men as officers to guard and protect His Bride; the duty to protect the Garden of Eden and the warning not to eat of the tree of the knowledge of good and evil was given by God to Adam; husbands protect their wives, not wives their husbands. Thus we are taught the binding nature of man's duty to guard and protect his home and wife.

Second, woman is the weaker sex and part of her weakness is the vulnerability attendant to her greatest privilege—that God has made her the "Mother of all the living." Men are to guard and protect her as she carries in her womb, gives birth to, and nurses her children.

Third, we are to renounce every thought and action which tends towards a diminishment of sexual differentiation since God made it and called it "good." [E.g. Scripture's injunctions concerning women exercising authority over men (1 Timothy 2), women or men wearing clothing of the opposite sex (Deuteronomy 22:5), sodomy (Leviticus 20:15-16), etc.] Rather than a stingy attitude which minimizes sexuality's implications, we ought to rejoice in this, His blessing.

We also object to the conscription of women on the following ground: the habitual carrying of an innocent non-combatant—the pre-born child in his mother's womb—into warfare without his informed consent is immoral. Professor Vern Poythress explains:

...to conscript women is immoral, because it unnecessarily endangers the lives of fetuses. The fact that the commanders and/or conscriptors cannot know with certainty is the problem. Principles like the goring ox and the rail around the roof of houses show that we must not only not be guilty of willfully taking innocent life, but must protect against opening the possibility of accidental taking of life.

The authors of "Man's Duty to Protect Woman" conclude:

We...are convinced that the creation order of sexuality places on man the duty to lay down his life for his wife. Women and men alike must be led to understand and obey this aspect of the biblical doctrine of sexuality, believing that such will lead to the unity and purity of the Church, and to the glory of God. Those who deny this duty, whether in word or action, oppose the Word of God. Taken together, we believe the above arguments provide a clear and compelling

scriptural rationale for declaring our Church's principled opposition to women serving in military combat positions.

Therefore, Sovereign King Church objects to the use of women as military combatants, the conscription of women into the armed forces of the United States for either combatant or non-combatant positions, and the requirement to register for potential conscription into military service. We refuse to submit to any governmental coercion compelling women to serve in or in any way subject themselves to potential conscription into the armed forces of the United States. Such a refusal to submit is not a violation of the admonition in Romans 13 to obey the civil authorities, because “we must obey God rather than men” (Acts 5:29) when any claim of the civil government contradicts the Word of God. Any civil authority requiring or compelling women to compulsory military service does so in violation of the Word of God, particularly God’s doctrine of personhood grounded at the most basic level in the sexual calling He gave each person when He made us either male or female. As Jesus said, “...from the beginning of creation, God made them male and female” (Mark 10:6).

SECTION II

In the case of a Biblically unjust war, we additionally object to the conscription of any member into the armed forces of the United States. We refuse to submit to any governmental coercion compelling men to serve in the armed forces of the United States in the particular instance of an unjust war. Such a refusal to submit is not a violation of the admonition in Romans 13 to obey the civil authorities, because “we must obey God rather than men” (Acts 5:29) when any claim of the civil government contradicts the Word of God. We affirm the following statement from our constitutional document, Westminster Confession of Faith, chapter 23.2, drawing attention to the limits placed on the work of civil magistrates (“to maintain piety, justice, and peace”) and the lawful conditions of warfare (“upon just and necessary occasion”):

It is lawful for Christians to accept and execute the office of a magistrate, when called thereunto: in the managing whereof, as they ought especially to maintain piety, justice, and peace, according to the wholesome laws of each commonwealth; so, for that end, they may lawfully, now under the new testament, wage war, upon just and necessary occasion.

SECTION III

We affirm our government’s God-given responsibility to protect her citizens and give thanks to God for those men who serve in the armed forces, doing their part to fulfill that responsibility in obedience to God and His commands.

Declaration of Doctrine and Policies Concerning Sexuality

Introduction

Since the mid-twentieth century, rebellion against God's divine pattern of sex within the loving union of lifelong, monogamous, heterosexual marriage has become widespread, and those attacks are increasingly perpetrated in concert with the civil magistrate. Thus for the protection of the Christian church's conscience and the purity of the Faith once for all delivered to the saints, it has become necessary for Christians to declare our Scriptural convictions and commitments concerning sexuality and marriage. These convictions and commitments are testified to by God's natural revelation and they are explicitly commanded by God's special revelation of Holy Scripture. Prior generations of Christians and non-Christians alike lived under the beneficial constraints of laws written to protect civil society from sexual relations outside these commands of Scripture. Western law reinforced God's law concerning sexual relations and His Order of Creation of Adam first, then Eve. For this reason, the church had no need to adopt doctrinal creeds or statements concerning sexuality. Now though, with the heathens' attack growing ever more intense and becoming institutionalized by the power of civil authority, the time has come for the church to declare her allegiance to God's law of male and female, and to do so specifically, forthrightly, and with confidence in the wisdom and kindness of God. He is the One who made us. We did not make ourselves. He is the One who created us male and female, pronouncing His creation "very good" only after He had made man and woman.

1. "In the day when God created man, He made him in the likeness of God. God created them male and female, and He blessed them and named them Man in the day when they were created." God formed the first male, Adam, from the dust of the ground. He made the first female, Eve, from Adam's rib and presented her to Adam to be his helpmeet. Adam called his wife "Woman, because she was taken out of Man." God named the race adam after the first man Adam.

2. From the beginning, God gave Adam authority over Eve and responsibility for her. This authority and responsibility are inseparably joined together. Eve was created to be a "help meet" for Adam, that is, a help fitting for Adam. God's decree of father-rule is the necessary outworking of the authority over Eve and responsibility for her that He placed on Adam. Man is to love and take responsibility for woman by leading her and laying down his life for her, providing a living illustration of Christ's sacrificial leadership of His Bride, the Church. This estate of male responsibility and authority is not a consequence of the Fall, but was ordained by God in the beginning: "But I do not allow a woman to teach or exercise authority over a man, but to remain quiet. For it was Adam who was first created, and then Eve. And it was not Adam who was deceived, but the woman being deceived, fell into transgression." God's subordination of the woman to man in no way diminishes the woman's perfect equality with man in essence, worth, and honor.

3. God's bifurcation of mankind into two and only two sexes, male and female, is an act of His creative will and power and continues through the generations since Adam, our first father.

4. God forms each person in his mother's womb and creates the unborn child male or female. From the moment of conception, males are distinct from females, and females are distinct from males.

5. What God has decreed as each one's sex at the moment of conception, either male or female, is His gift and must be received with gratitude, each man living out his manhood and each woman her womanhood, in humble reliance upon God's grace.

6. God's created order of man and woman was established while man was in a state of perfection before the Fall. God's creation of Adam first, then Eve, is the origin of Scripture's condemnation of woman exercising authority over man and is further delineated by Scripture's declaration that man is the glory of God, but woman is the glory of man. This order of creation, then, is a universal truth for all mankind.

7. The proper conception of "sexual identity" is a matter of being and obeying the genetic sex God made us, either male or female. Genetic sex and sexual identity cannot be separated, and they remain bound together throughout one's life. Sexuality does not admit of gradations. You are either male or female, not part male and part female. Nor are there a great multitude of sexual identities. There are only two, male and female. Any attempt of a man to play the woman or a woman to play the man violates God's decree, attacks His created order, and constitutes sin so serious that God Himself pronounces it an "abomination."

8. This sin includes transvestitism and any efforts, including chemical or surgical, as well as behavioral (e.g., effeminacy), to reject and efface one's sex and to adopt characteristics of the opposite sex.

9. This sin also includes the conscription of woman as a military combatant or the placing of woman in harm's way as a law enforcement officer. Following the example of Christ Jesus who gave up His life for His Bride, the Church, man is to lay down his life in defense of woman. As life-giver, woman has always been honored by man's defense of her and her children. A civil magistrate defaces woman's sexuality by placing her in the uniform of a combatant and commanding her to take up arms. Further, given woman's comparative physical weakness in the face of male enemies, such magistrates place their homeland at unnecessary risk. Finally, female military combatants of childbearing age often (whether known or unknown) place at risk unborn children, which is an act contrary to the just war principle of avoiding needless loss of life. Therefore, Sovereign King Church condemns the use of women as military combatants, the conscription of women into the armed forces, and any requirement for her to register for conscription into military service.

10. All the sins mentioned above are violations of the separate nature and callings of Adam and Eve, man and woman. Through repentance and faith in Jesus Christ, there is full forgiveness for each of these sins.

11. It is a particularly necessary and vital ministry of the church today to proclaim this forgiveness and to teach and help those who repent of these sins to live faithfully as the man or woman God made them.

12. As the household of faith, the church is privileged to assist parents in training boys to be men and girls to be women. This training is not simply Christian discipleship but is also part of the Church's proclamation of the Gospel for the salvation of mankind.

13. Being committed to such evangelism and discipleship, Sovereign King Church limits participation in any program or activity that is limited to men (e.g., a men's Bible study or a men's retreat) exclusively to males.

14. Participation in any program or activity of Sovereign King Church that is limited to women (e.g., a women's Bible study or a women's retreat) is exclusively limited to females.

15. Access to facilities of Sovereign King Church that are designated for use by men (e.g., a men's restroom) is exclusively limited to males.

16. Access to facilities of Sovereign King Church that are designated for use by women (e.g., a women's restroom or nursing/cry room, etc.) is exclusively limited to females.

17. Recognizing the church's own sins and failures in obeying God's commands of sexuality and recognizing that sinners on the road of repentance and faith in Jesus Christ often enter the church bound in deep patterns of sexual sin, it is not our expectation that sinners will respond to the preaching of the Law and the proclamation of the Gospel with immediate and full repentance. For this reason, wise and compassionate pastoral discretion is necessary to apply the rules set forth in this Declaration, especially concerning access to facilities. In certain instances the higher law of love will preclude swift and rigid enforcement of rules. For example, if a female has transitioned to a male in appearance, it may be best that she not use the bathroom of her birth sex until she has been presented with pastoral counsel concerning God's calling of manhood and womanhood and she begins to learn of Jesus' Lordship over her sexuality and the implications it has for her sexual identity and its public expression. In this case, the female would be asked not to use the men's restroom, but instead a single-stall restroom available to either sex.

18. Marriage is instituted by God as the union of one male and one female, which union is intended to be monogamous and lifelong. This relationship, with these limitations, was established while man was in a state of perfection before the Fall and is established for all members of the human race. Marriage is an honorable estate that God Himself made, and it symbolizes to us the mystical union which is between Christ and His Church. For centuries, Christians have recognized the following vital purposes of marriage: "Marriage was ordained for the mutual help of husband and wife, for the increase of mankind with a legitimate issue, and of the Church with an holy seed; and for preventing of uncleanness." This holy estate Christ made beautiful by His presence and first miracle at a wedding in Cana of Galilee.

19. When sin entered the race, marriage was sorely affected. God therefore created laws to govern the violation of His established pattern, while not changing the pattern. Since marriage is a lifelong and monogamous union, God forbids divorce except in two circumstances: (1) when one spouse abandons the other, and (2) when a spouse engages in sexual immorality—what Jesus referred to as the sin of porneia.

20. More broadly, in His Law God forbids any deviation from the established pattern of marriage and from His gift of sexual union to be enjoyed by a married couple. These forbidden deviations include lust for anyone but one's spouse, pornography, masturbation (including simulated copulation with any inanimate object no matter how lifelike), fornication, adultery, polygamy, incest, pedophilia, homosexuality, and bestiality. Because the heart of man is deceitful above all things and desperately wicked, it is impossible to catalogue fully all forms of sexual immorality and degradation.

21. God offers the free gift of forgiveness for these sins through repentance and faith in Jesus, and He has called the Church to proclaim that repentance and forgiveness, seeking the healing of those harmed by these sins.

22. Presently, there is widespread disregard, even scorn, for the divine standard of sexuality and marriage as revealed in Scripture. This disregard, which is found both in the world and in many churches, endangers the family (our basic social unit) and causes much suffering to the innocent, especially children. When found in the Church, it brings shame to the name of Christ.

23. A pastor, officer, leader, teacher, employee, or member of Sovereign King Church shall not solemnize a marriage or officiate at a wedding in any place or under any circumstances that violate God's Law or His established pattern of marriage between one male and one female, which union is intended to be monogamous and lifelong. Recognizing the universal application of God's Order of Creation and the resultant Scriptural command that wives submit to their husbands, any wedding solemnized by a pastor of Sovereign King Church will include in the wife's vows her promise to "obey" her husband. This promise to "obey" will also be required in any wedding permitted by Sovereign King Church's Board of Elders to be held on church property or in a church facility but officiated by a pastor unaffiliated with this congregation.

24. The property or any facility of Sovereign King Church shall not be used for a marriage ceremony, wedding, or related event that violates God's Law or His established pattern of marriage between one male and one female, which union is intended to be monogamous and lifelong.

25. All ministries of Sovereign King Church including educational ministries for youth, shall adhere to and abide by this Declaration.

26. The Scriptures of the Old and New Testaments are the only infallible rule of faith and practice and the only authority that may bind the conscience.

27. This Declaration does not exhaust the extent of our beliefs and practices. The Bible itself, as the inspired and infallible Word of God that speaks with final authority concerning truth, morality, and the proper conduct of mankind, is the sole and final source of authority for all that we believe and do. For purposes of Sovereign King Church's faith, doctrine, practice, policy, and discipline, the Board of Elders is the church's final interpretive authority on the Bible's meaning and application.

Declaration of Doctrine and Policy of Unity and Charity on Baptism

Due to our ultimate unity in Christ and because of our unity in so many areas of the faith, we will not refuse to commune or refuse to jointly pursue the great commission because of differences between the credobaptist and paedobaptist positions. Further, eligibility for the station of elder will not hinge on a particular position on this topic. This is not to say that this is not an important issue, or that this topic is something to be avoided. Further, in full humility and transparency we affirm that it is true that one of these positions is in error and is therefore sinful by either withholding baptism where it should be administered, or for administering baptism where it should be withheld. The long term vision is that the congregation (and the universal catholic church as a whole) would arrive at one position or the other. But because differences do exist among brothers on this issue, we will not divide over the issue of baptism as long as neither side affirms baptismal regeneration. We seek God's mercy and the Spirit's leading in pursuing greater and greater holiness and fidelity to his commands.

In the meantime, we commit ourselves to winsomeness and charity in all discussions on this issue. This being grounded in the recognition that both sides are seeking to understand and obey the scriptures regardless of our traditions. We can jointly affirm that we are to yearn and pray for the regeneration of our children, disciple our children in the faith and look for the fruit of authentic repentance. We jointly affirm that God continues to work by and through households in the New Covenant (including children who are considered holy and set apart by virtue of their belonging to a covenant family (1 Cor 7:14).

In unity, Sovereign King Church affirms that:

1. Baptism is a sign and seal of the Covenant of Grace. Baptism however is not a mechanical act that regenerates. Baptismal regeneration is unbiblical. Sovereign Church stands strongly opposed to it.
2. Regeneration is necessary for salvation. One must be born again by the Father through the Holy Spirit according to the work of Christ. No matter if one is baptized as an infant or an adult, they must be born again and have faith in Christ. Salvation is a work of grace through faith.
3. The issue of mode or the recipient of baptism does not have to unnecessarily divide brothers in Christ. Both credobaptists and paedobaptists can and should work together for the advancement of the kingdom. Sovereign King Church is committed to the principle of charity on this issue.
4. Covenant theology is the biblical and correct way of understanding the bible. We deny that Dispensationalism, New Covenant Theology, or what is often called Progressive Covenantalism are biblically true systems of hermeneutics.
5. God generally works through head of households to convert their households.
6. Children are a vital part of a church. They should be raised in the fear and admonition of the Lord.